CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

- 1. Douglas G. Cosentino, Appellant.
- Joseph R. Meadows, Esq., P.O. Box 1076, Gulfport,
 Mississippi 39502, attorney for Appellant.
- 3. Phyllis L. Cosentino, Appellee.
- 4. Earl L. Denham, Esq., P.O. Box 580, Ocean Springs, MS 39566-0580, attorney for Appellee.
- 5. Honorable Jaye Bradley, Chancery Court Judge, P.O. Box 998, Pascagoula, MS 39568-0998.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED, this the 18th day of June, 2007.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The issue presented to the Court on this Appeal is as follows:

The Trial Court erred in its ruling on the Court of Appeals Mandate for an appropriate analysis of <u>Ferguson</u> factors (6) and (7), and if justified, the <u>Armstrong</u> factors, in awarding periodic alimony to Appellee in the amount of Seven Thousand Dollars (\$7,000) per month, or in any sum whatsoever.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This cause was first heard on a Consent to Adjudicate before the Chancery Court of Jackson County, (the "Trial Court") on March 11, 2003, with a reconvened hearing on June 19, 2003. At this hearing, the only issue presented to the Court was whether or not there should be an award of periodic alimony, if any.

The Trial Court issued its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on August 18, 2003. In its opinion, the Trial Court only addressed the <u>Armstrong</u> factors and awarded Appellee periodic alimony in the amount of \$7,000 per month, <u>Cosentino I.</u>

Being aggrieved by the Court's ruling, an Appeal was taken by Appellant ("Doug") assigning as error the Trial Court's award of periodic alimony to Appellee ("Phyllis") in the amount of Seven Thousand Dollars (\$7,000) per month, or in any sum whatsoever.

Doug contended the Trial Court failed to follow the teachings of <u>Ferguson v. Ferguson</u>, 639 So. 2d 921,929(Miss.1994), which held, among other things, that "If after the equitable distribution of the marital property, both parties had been adequately provided for, then an award of alimony is not appropriate." Citing <u>Johnson v. Johnson</u>, 650 So. 2d 1281,1287(Miss.1994).

On December 18, 2005, the Court of Appeals remanded the case to the Trial Court and in so doing, held the following:

"In the present case, <u>Ferguson</u> factors (6) and (7) are relevant, and therefore should have been addressed by the Chancellor. While a full and appropriate analysis may well have indicated a need for alimony, no such full and appropriate analysis was conducted. Accordingly, we reverse the award of alimony and remand for an appropriate analysis of the <u>Ferguson</u> factors, and if justified, an analysis of the <u>Armstrong</u> factors by the Chancellor." <u>Cosentino v. Cosentino</u>, 912 So. 2d 1130 (Miss.Ct.App.2005) (R-9)

On February 6, 2006, the Trial Court entered its "Ruling After Remand for Further Findings". (R-16)

The Trial Court ruled, among other things, the following:

"Out of an abundance of caution, the Trial Court will address each of the <u>Ferguson</u> factors. <u>Ferguson</u> sets out eight factors for the Trial Court's consideration and matters of equitable distribution."

The Trial Court then proceeded to address each of the <u>Ferguson</u> factors, and after so doing ruled as follows: (R-23)

"After addressing each of the <u>Ferguson</u> factors in this supplemental ruling, this Court's analysis of the <u>Armstrong</u> factors set out in its original Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law remain the same. After considering and weighing each of the <u>Ferguson</u> and <u>Armstrong</u> factors, together with the testimony of evidence presented at trial, the Court finds there is a justifiable basis for the alimony award and exercises its discretion in finding \$7,000 per month to be appropriate."

Being aggrieved of this ruling, Doug has perfected his Appeal to this Court.

BACKGROUND

Phyllis and Doug filed their Joint Petition to dissolve their marriage on he grounds of Irreconcilable Differences.

They had agreed on the division of all martial assets. Phyllis would receive 50.5% or \$2,615,815, and Doug would receive 49.5% or \$2,560,390. The parties executed a Consent to Adjudicate, with the sole issue presented to the Trial Court as follows:

"All questions concerning alimony to Plaintiff (wife)"

The parties graduated from undergraduate school and were married on July 2, 1970. Obviously, this is a long term marriage.

Two children were born to the union of the marriage, both of whom are adults and not the subject of this litigation.

Phyllis worked outside the home for the first six (6) years of the marriage, while Doug pursued his medical degree and subsequent residency in Radiology. Phyllis worked as a housewife since that time.

At the time of the trial, Phyllis was 55 years of age and Doug was 54 years of age. Both are in good health.

Phyllis' Financial Declaration indicated she had no income and needed \$3,415.81 per month to meet her financial needs.

Shortly, this would be reduced to \$3,093.14.

Doug works in his practice of Radiology. His Financial Declaration indicated his monthly income is \$29,890 pre-taxes; (excluding Mississippi taxes) his take home is \$15,200; less his expenses of \$5,015, he has \$10,185 per month; less \$7,000 in periodic alimony payments.

Doug also receives an annual bonus. In 2002 it was \$200,000 due to his extra work after the loss of doctors in the practice. In 2000 it was \$85,000, and in 2001, it was \$85,000. So, his average bonus is more like \$85,000.

Essentially, the parties are debt free.

At the conclusion of the trial, the Trial Court awarded Phyllis the sum of \$7,000 per month in permanent periodic alimony.

In Doug's opinion, the division of the marital assets was not only fair, but would more than meet the financial needs of Phyllis. Therefore, no alimony was appropriate, much less an award of \$7,000 per month, which was at least \$3,600 per month above her then stated financial needs.

Being aggrieved with the Trial Court's award of permanent periodic alimony to Phyllis, Doug perfected his appeal.

THE APPEAL

The Court of Appeals reversed and remanded the case to the Trial Court "for an appropriate analysis <u>Ferguson</u> factors (6) and (7), and if justified, an analysis of the <u>Armstrong</u> factors..." Cosentino v. Cosentino, supra.

Thereafter, the Trial Court entered its "Ruling After Remand for Further Findings." In so doing, the Court addressed each of the <u>Ferguson</u> factors and found there was a justifiable basis for an award of alimony, and exercised its discretion in finding that \$7,000 per month to be appropriate, <u>the same amount as was granted in the Trial Court's original ruling in Cosentino I.</u>

Being aggrieved of the Court's decision, Doug has perfected his appeal of the Trial Court's "Ruling After Remand for Further Findings."

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In considering whether or not the Trial Court properly analyzed <u>Ferguson</u> factors (6) and (7), it is necessary to again review all of the relevant facts in this case.

The following is a Statement of Facts relevant to the issue presented for review, with appropriate references to the record.

Phyllis and Doug filed their Joint Petition to dissolve their marriage in the Trial Court on October 18, 2001.

Thereafter, on March 11, 2003, Phyllis and Doug filed their Consent to Adjudicate, stating that all issues had been satisfactory resolved, save one, that being the issue of Phyllis' claim for an award of permanent periodic alimony. (R-4-7)

Thus, the sole issue presented to the Trial Court for its consideration in <u>Cosentino I</u>, was the following:

"All questions concerning alimony to Plaintiff (Wife)." (Exhibit A) (R-4-7)

On March 11, 2003, the case was before the Trial Court to hear and decide the referenced issue regarding alimony. Due to the Court Reporter's illness, the hearing was recessed and resumed on June 19, 2003. (R-43-44)

The following facts and evidence were presented to the Trial Court for its consideration.

PARTIES:

Appellee, the wife ("Phyllis")

Appellant, the husband ("Doug")

AGE:

Phyllis - 55 (R-64)

Doug - 54 (R-122)

STATE OF HEALTH:

Phyllis - Good (R-97)

Doug - Good (R-122)

DATE OF MARRIAGE:

July 2, 1970 (R-8)

PLACE OF MARRIAGE:

Jefferson Parish, Louisiana (R-8)

EDUCATION OF PARTIES PRIOR TO MARRIAGE:

- Phyllis - Undergraduate Degree

Doug - Undergraduate Degree (R-8)

EDUCATION OF PARTIES AFTER THE MARRIAGE:

Phyllis - None

Doug - MD and Residency in Radiology (R-16-17)

PAYMENT FOR EDUCATION:

The parents of the parties paid for their undergraduate degrees. (R-8)

With regard to Doug's medical school and residency, the source of their income was as follows:

- (1) Doug's parents paid for one year of medical school;
- (2) Doug's part-time salary;
- (3) Phyllis' full-time employment; and
- (4) A student loan paid for the rest. (R-11-12)

CHILDREN OF THE MARRIAGE:

At the time of the hearing, the parties' first born, Gina, was 26 years of age. Gina had received a Degree in Physics at Millsaps College and was then taking courses in Biology in preparation of taking the MCAT to get into medical school. (R-14)

Bobby, the second born child, was 23 years of age. He received his Degree in Geology and had been employed for approximately one month. (R-16-17)

WORK HISTORY UNTIL DOUG COMPLETED HIS RESIDENCY IN RADIOLOGY:

The parties were married after they received their respective undergraduate degrees. Phyllis worked as a Medical Technologist during Doug's time in medical school. Doug worked part-time during the medical school year and during the summer break. After Doug graduated from medical school, he began his residency in Radiology. They moved to Memphis where Phyllis continued to work for two years until the birth of their first child. (R-15)

Phyllis claimed she was the primary support for the family during medical school. However, during the summer, Doug worked in the urinalysis lab and he worked for another physician distributing methadone to re-hab drug users. (R-11) When they moved to Memphis to begin Doug's residency in Radiology, Phyllis testified that Doug worked overnight and weekends as E-R physician in emergency rooms throughout Arkansas, Mississippi and Tennessee. (R-10-13)

After the birth of the parties' first child, approximately six years into the marriage, it was agreed that Phyllis would stay at home and take care of the child. (R-18) (R-127)

In June 1978, Doug and Phyllis moved to Ocean Springs, Mississippi, where Doug began his practice in Radiology. (R-16)

CURRENT WORK HISTORY:

PHYLLIS

Since the birth of the parties' first child, approximately 26 years ago, Phyllis has not worked outside the home. (R-15-16) She did not assist Doug in his practice of Radiology. (R-33)

Phyllis testified that she volunteers at St. Vincent dePaul Pharmacy as a Pharmacy Tech, where she stocks shelves on Tuesdays and counts pills on Thursday. She has instituted a financial computer program so they can have their opinions on computer.

She attends Yoga class on Tuesday night, and she leads a Yoga class on Thursday night. Additionally, she visits friends on Monday and Wednesday night and watches educational series video by the teaching company. She also has a garden and is renovating a home for herself. (R-25)

Phyllis testified that technology has changed so drastically between 1976 and 2003, that she could not walk into the lab and pick up where she left off. She would have to be totally retrained and did not know any job for which she was qualified today. (R-64)

She did testify that since 1995 she had taken classes at the community college in color design, drawing, painting, and oil painting. She had sold two pieces for approximately \$250. She did not believe she would be able to support herself as an artist. (R-64-66)

Finally, she was in good health and there was nothing to prevent her from working if she wanted to do so. (R-97)

DOUG

Doug continues to practice radiology. He testified that he had a practice with three physicians and one retired in 2002. The work stayed the same, however, with two physicians working a three man practice.

At the time <u>Cosentino I</u> was heard, though it was a three person practice, Doug was the only full-time radiologist. Doug had to hire people to assist him on a temporary basis, having thus far failed to find even one full-time doctor.

He had worked every day, including weekends, for about two and one-half months. He was trying to recruit someone to alleviate the situation. (R-113-114)

Doug testified that in his opinion, based upon the marital assets Phyllis received in the settlement, he had adequately provided for her and that the settlement was fair. (R-123)

DIVISION OF MARITAL ASSETS:

At the time of the March 11, 2003 hearing, the value of the parties' marital assets, and the agreed division of same, was as follows: (Exhibit 1(A))

Phyllis Doug

\$2,380,478 \$2,378,917

At the time of the <u>June 19, 2003</u> hearing, approximately three (3) months after the first hearing, the value of the parties' marital assets had increased as follows: (Exhibit 6)

Doug

Phyllis

\$2,615,815 \$2,560,390

. (Increase \$235,337) (Increase \$181,473)

DOUG AND PHYLLIS' FINANCIAL DECLARATIONS:

PHYLLIS

Phyllis' Financial Declaration indicated she had no income and that her monthly expenses totaled \$3,415.81. (Exhibit 4) (R-47)

On cross-examination, Phyllis testified that with regard to her Financial Declaration, when the homestead is sold, Item 6, in the amount of \$53 would end; within the next year, Item 16, in the amount of \$175, representing payment to her psychologist would end; Items 26 and 27, would be eliminated in the amount of \$62.67; and Item 38, in the amount of \$32 for pest control at the former homestead would end. This totals \$322.67, which would reduce her stated monthly expenses to the sum of \$3,093.14. (R-84-88)

DOUG

Doug's Declaration indicated that he had a total monthly income of \$29,890, less deductions of \$12,880, which gave him a net of \$15,200, less monthly expenses of \$5,015. From the remaining \$10,185, there will now be an additional deduction of \$7,000 per

month by way of permanent periodic alimony to Phyllis, leaving Doug \$3,185. (Exhibit 9) (R-169)

With his bonus of \$200,000, Doug's gross income, as reflected on his W-2 for 2002, was \$510,000, less Federal income tax withheld of \$189,038.76, and Social Security and Medicaid withheld of \$13,662, left him with \$307,299.24. (Exhibit 8)

With regard to his annual bonus, Doug testified that in the year 2000, he had a bonus of \$85,000; and in the year 2001, he had a bonus of \$85,000.

The spike in the 2002 bonus to the sum of \$200,000, reflected the loss of a doctor in his office. This loss resulted in Doug doing much more work to take up the slack, and that this would be reduced with the employment of additional doctors.

Finally, he testified that his bonus depended on how much money is left at year's end; which would depend on the help he could hire; how much time he could take off; and the availability of help. (R-167-168)

THE TRIAL COURT'S ORIGINAL RULING - - COSENTINO I:

At the conclusion of the hearing, and the submission of Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, the Trial Court awarded Phyllis \$7,000 per month in periodic alimony. The Court denied Doug's Motion for New Trial/Reconsideration, and entered its

final judgment awarding Phyllis \$7,000 per month by way of permanent periodic alimony. (RE-23)

THE APPEAL:

Being aggrieved by the Trial Court's award of permanent periodic alimony to Phyllis in the sum of \$7,000 per month, or any amount whatsoever, Doug perfected his appeal.

THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING REVERSED AND REMANDED:

On October 18, 2005, the Court of Appeals reversed and remanded the case to the Trial Court, finding that <u>Ferguson</u> factors (6) and (7) were relevant and should have been addressed by the Chancellor, and if justified, then an analysis fo the <u>Armstrong</u> factors.

THE TRIAL COURT'S SECOND RULING - - COSENTINO II:

On February 6, 2006, the Trial Court entered its "Ruling After Remand for Further Findings." The Court chose to address all Ferguson factors, and including the Armstrong factors reviewed in its original ruling, and found there was a justifiable basis for the award of alimony and in so doing exercised its discretion in finding that \$7,000 per month of permanent periodic alimony was appropriate.

THE CURRENT APPEAL - COSENTINO II:

Being aggrieved by the Trial Court's "Ruling After Remand for Further Findings," wherein the Trial Court again awarded Phyllis permanent periodic alimony in the amount of \$7,000 per month, Doug has perfected his second appeal of the Trial Court's ruling in Cosentino II.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Chancellor's ruling was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, an abuse of discretion, and the Court misapprehended and/or misapplied the legal standard provided in <u>Ferguson v. Ferguson</u>, 639 So. 2d 921,929(Miss.1994), and in particular, factor (6), "The extent to which property division, may, with equity to both parties, be utilized to eliminate periodic payments and other potential sources of future friction between the parties; and factor (7), "The needs of the parties for financial security with due regard to the combination of assets, income and capacity;..."

Phyllis received a shade more than one-half (%) of the marital estate, which amounted to \$2,615,815 or 50.5%. Additionally, she had no debt.

Doug contended in <u>Cosentino I</u>, and again in <u>Cosentino II</u>, that the receipt of this portion of the marital estate eliminated the need for periodic alimony.

Further, Phyllis' portion of the marital estate would more than provide for her future financial security.

Beyond this, the award of \$7,000 per month in periodic alimony was approximately \$3,600 in excess of Phyllis' stated monthly needs, as set forth in her Financial Declaration. Within one (1) year, it would exceed her stated needs by almost \$4,000 per month.

Finally, if by some logic or reason it could be determined that an award of permanent periodic alimony was appropriate, the award of Seven Thousand Dollars (\$7,000) was excessive and an abuse of discretion.

THE ARGUMENT

The award of periodic alimony to Appellee in the amount of seven thousand dollars (\$7,000) per month, or in any sum whatsoever was error.

The standard of review of a ruling of the Trial Court is well settled in this jurisdiction.

In <u>Owen v. Owen</u>, 928 So. 2d 156(Miss.2005), our court held that:

"In <u>Carrow</u>, 642 So. 2d 904, citing <u>Bell v. Parker</u>, 563 So. 2d 594,596-97 (Miss.1990), this court stated that the Chancellor's findings will be upheld unless those findings are clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied. However, this court will not hesitate to reverse if it finds the Chancellor's decision is manifestly wrong, or that the court applied an erroneous legal standard. See <u>Sandlin v. Sandlin</u>, 699 So. 2d 1198,1203 (Miss.1997); see also <u>Carrow</u>, 642 So. 2d 904; Bell, 563 So. 2d 596-97."

The Court of Appeals reversed the award of alimony in Cosentino I and remanded the case for an appropriate analysis of Ferguson factors (6) and (7), and if justified, an analysis of the Armstrong factors.

Ferguson factor (6):

"The extent to which property division may, with equity to both parties, be utilized to eliminate periodic payments and other potential sources of future friction between the parties;" In all deference, the Trial Court wholly failed to analyze or even address <u>Ferguson</u> factor (6), simply holding the following:

"The marital property has been divided, by agreement, in equal parts to both husband and the wife. The portion received by each spouse was in excess of \$2 million." (RE-6 of Opinion)

The Trial Court made no findings nor did it analyze factor (6) to determine whether or not the \$2,615,815 property settlement to Phyllis was sufficient to eliminate periodic alimony payments.

The Trial Court's failure to properly address <u>Ferguson</u> factor (6) goes to the very heart of Doug's argument against the Trial Court's award of permanent periodic alimony to Phyllis in any amount. (RE-0017-18)

<u>Johnson v. Johnson</u>, 650 So. 2d 1281,1287 (Miss.1994), held that "If there are sufficient marital assets which, when equitably divided and considered with each spouse's non-martial assets, will adequately provide for both parties, no more need be done." (emphasis provided)

Moreover, not only did the Trial Court fail to factually analyze Ferguson factor (6), no conclusion of law was made to determine whether or not the award of marital property to Phyllis was sufficient to eliminate the award of permanent periodic alimony. Owen, supra.

Finally, can it be seriously argued that Phyllis' portion of the marital estate - - - \$2,615,815 - - - would not adequately provide for all of her financial needs?

In all deference, the Trial Court made no such finding that it would not have done so.

Ferguson factor (7):

"The needs of the parties for financial security with due regard to the combination of assets, income and earning capacity."

The Trial Court found, among other things, "...that the award of periodic alimony is modifiable in the future should Dr. Cosentino's financial situation change..."This is certainly not a justification for the award of periodic alimony."

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