# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISTISCIPIES

NO. 2006-TS-01613

**DOUGLAS G. COSENTINO** 

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

PHYLLIS L. COSENTINO

FILED

SEP 1 1 2007

**APPELLEE** 

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

# **BRIEF FOR APPELLEE**

ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF JACKSON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

WENDY C. HOLLINGSWORTH
Law Offices of Wendy Hollingsworth, PLLC
1113 Jackson Avenue
P.O. Box 1622
Pascagoula MS 39568-1622
228.696.8833 Telephone
228.696.0118 Facsimile
Mississippi Bar

EARL L. DENHAM
Denham Law Firm
424 Washington Avenue
Post Office Drawer 580
Ocean Springs, MS 39566-0580
228.875.1234 Telephone
228.875.4553 Facsimile
Mississippi Ba

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

#### III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Chancellor's decision to award permanent periodic alimony to Phyllis was based upon the testimony and evidence presented as applied to the relevant Ferguson and Armstrong factors. Both the Ferguson factors and the Armstrong factors support an award of permanent alimony to Phyllis. Armstrong factors in this case which specifically support the award of alimony are the length of the marriage, Phyllis's substantial contributions throughout the marriage, and the fact that Phyllis quit working after the birth of the parties first child and is no longer qualified to work in the field in which she had been educated and worked during the early years of the marriage. She has little, if any, earning capacity, whereas Doug's earning capacity has increased and will continue as he enjoys working and has no plans to retire. The award of periodic alimony does not prevent Doug from living a luxurious lifestyle with a very high standard of living and does not jeopardize his ability to live an elegant lifestyle during retirement when it comes. Even after paying alimony, Doug's standard of living is the same as that of the parties while married and is more than ample for him to lead a normal life with a reasonable standard of living. Massey v. Massey, 475 So.2d 802, 803 (Miss. 1985). The only impact the alimony payments may have on Doug is that he will have slightly less money to invest than in if he were not paying alimony, but even this inconvenience is not certain based upon Doug's

testimony that his income had not decreased, but in fact had increased every year. This being so, the impact of the alimony payment on Doug's ability to save will decrease annually. There is no other effect on Doug. A substantially higher award of \$10,000.00 or more per month would have had no impact on Doug's lifestyle except for its effect on his ability to save money, an indisputable element of his lifestyle, his luxurious standard of living.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW:

The Supreme Court's scope of review in domestic matters is limited by its substantial evidence/manifest error rule. "Manifest error" is defined as "unmistakable, clear, plain, or indisputable." *Brennan v. Brennan*, 638 So.2d 1320 (Miss. 1994). The Supreme Court is limited to facts that are of record and reasonable inference that may be derived therefrom. *Cotton v. McConnell*, 435 So.2d 683, 685 (Miss. 1983); *American Life Ins. Co. v. Walker*, 208 Miss. 1, 43 So.2d 657 (1949).

It is largely within the discretion of the chancellor whether or not to award alimony, and the Supreme Court will not disturb an alimony award on appeal unless it is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence or manifestly in error. *Parsons v. Parsons*, 678 So.2d 701, 703 (Miss. 1996).

In addition to the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law filed on August 18, 2003 (CP 14-22) Final Judgment of Divorce entered on September 30, 2003 (CP – 23-30), and the Ruling After Remand for Further Findings, the Chancellor's own words demonstrate she was well informed regarding the facts and evidence presented in this case. During the hearing on Defendant's Motion for New Trial/Rehearing (CP 31-33) on February 6, 2004, the Chancellor stated as follows:

"I certainly recall this trial and put a great deal of thought into the opinion that I wrote and the award that I made. I weighed all of the factors set out in the case law and considered the contributions made early in the marriage; the fact that she cannot return to her career, because, quite frankly, technology has advanced so much to the point that she would have to be recertified. And considering the age of the parties, certainly they are in the twilight of their working years and the vast difference of income between the parties, their capacity to earn more money and the style of living to which they have both become accustomed, quite frankly, my thinking was that Mrs. Cosentino could easily outlive the assets awarded her from the equitable division considering her age, and considering his large monthly income, I did not think \$7,000 was an inappropriate award, so I am going to deny your motion." (T-188.)

When reviewing a chancellor's decision, the appellate court will accept a chancellor's findings of fact as long as the evidence in the record reasonably supports those findings. *Perkins v. Thompson*, 609 So.2d 390, 393 (Miss. 1992). In other words, the appellate court will not disturb the findings of a chancellor unless those findings are clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied. *Hill v. Southeastern Floor Covering Co.*, 596 So.2d 874, 877 (Miss. 1992.)

The decision of the Chancellor was based upon the testimony and evidence submitted during trial, was manifestly correct and should be affirmed.

# B. THE LOWER COURT'S ALIMONY AWARD TO THE PLAINTIFF IS SUPPORTED BY THE FACTS AND EVIDENCE IN THIS CASE AND IS MANIFESTLY CORRECT.

Alimony is an available remedy after equitable distribution where the facts support such an award under the equities and analysis set forth in *Ferguson v. Ferguson*, 639 So.2d 921 (Miss. 1994) and *Armstrong v. Armstrong*, 618 So.2d 1278, 1280 (Miss. 1993). If the division of marital assets leaves one party with a deficiency, then a consideration of an award of alimony is appropriate. *Johnson v. Johnson*, 650 So.2d 1281, 1287 (Miss. 1994). The court considers

certain factors when determining whether to award alimony. Armstrong v. Armstrong, 618 So.2d 1278, 1280-1281 (Miss. 1993). See also Voda v. Voda, 731 So.2d 1152 (Miss. 1999); Parsons v. Parsons, 678 So.2d 701 (Miss. 1996); Etheridge v. Etheridge, 648 So.2d 1143 (Miss. 1995); and Hammonds v. Hammonds, 597 So.2d 653, 654 (Miss. 1992).

"The obligation of a chancellor is not to follow some precise formula as to each individual component of distribution, alimony, and other support, but to provide equitably between the spouses in the final outcome." Welch v. Welch, 755 So.2d 6, 10 (¶ 26) (Miss. App. 1999). "Whether to award alimony, and the amount to be awarded, are largely within the discretion of the chancellor." Henderson v. Henderson, 757 So.2d 205 (Miss. 2000) (citing Magee v. Magee, 661 So.2d 1117, 1122 (Miss. 1995).

The general rule under which the amount of alimony is to be calculated provides that the recipient should be entitled to a reasonable allowance that is commensurate with the standard of living to which they [the parties] had become accustomed to, measured against the ability to pay on the part of the party subjected to the payment order. *Johnson v. Johnson*, 877 So.2d 485, 495-496 ¶ 45 (Miss. App. 2003).

In the instant case, the Chancellor gave due consideration to both the *Ferguson* factors and the *Armstrong* factors in weighing the testimony and evidence, and awarded Phyllis periodic alimony of \$7,000.00 per month. Thus, Judge Bradley was of the opinion that the equitable division left a deficit for Phyllis, thus triggering an *Armstrong* analysis.

#### 1. Application of the Armstrong factors to testimony and evidence:

In accordance with the provisions of *Armstrong v. Armstrong*, 681 So.2d 1278 (Miss. 1993), and *Hammonds v. Hammonds*, 597 So.2d 653 (Miss. 1992), the following is a discussion of the qualifying factors addressed by the lower court in reference to the issue of alimony:

#### a. Income and expenses of the parties:

Doug paid no support during the separation as no temporary order was entered (T – 22), therefore Phyllis had to withdraw funds from her investment account to maintain the standard of living to which she had been accustomed during the marriage. During this same time period, Doug purchased and paid for a house in Biloxi and paid some of his personal expenses from income received from the medical practice. Some personal expenses, such as automobiles, auto insurance, fuel, and other related expenses, are provided for him by the medical practice.

Phyllis's Financial Declaration revealed monthly expenses of approximately \$3,415.81 at the time of trial, which included an estimate of \$325.81 for medical insurance. (Ex. 4 & 5) (T-46-47) It is very important to note that she had already spent \$307,000.00 of her savings to house herself plus the monies she expended from her savings for monthly expenses during the separation, and so the figure for monthly expenses is artificially low since she does not list expenses for rent or a monthly house note. Phyllis testified during trial that her vehicle would soon need to be replaced, but her monthly expenses do not include this anticipated cost, therefore again reducing monthly expenses that would normally contain this expense. Phyllis and Doug do not have car notes. When they wanted or needed something, they paid cash without inspecting their savings.

During testimony, Phyllis confirmed that some of the listed monthly expenses would decrease while others would increase. (T-38-40, 42-43, 45-47). The estimate obtained by Phyllis for medical insurance was an <u>estimate only</u> and was therefore subject to change by the time she actually purchased insurance. The estimate did not include medical expenses that were not covered by insurance, nor did her monthly expenses include any provision for dental or ocular expenses. Testimony clearly demonstrated her monthly expenses will increase once her house is

completed and property taxes and insurance are assessed.

Doug alleges that Phyllis's portion of the marital assets increased during the three month interim from March 11, 2003 to June 19, 2003. Doug did not provide any supporting financial statements or other documentation to support the figures he presented to the court. (Brief for Appellant – p. 12) (T - 116-119) (E - 6) During cross-examination, Doug admitted the document did not include information showing the total increase of his portion of the financial assets during the same time period, therefore the information in the document was incomplete and inaccurately portrayed Phyllis as having received a greater portion of the marital assets than Doug.

The record is sufficient to demonstrate that without alimony, Phyllis will over time be required to deplete her portion of the marital assets in order to maintain the very high standard of living to which she has become accustomed during thirty-three years of marriage. Living out of her property settlement, Phyllis will never be in a position to save as she did during the marriage, and her financial security in her old age will be declining as her age increases and her standard of living inevitably declines.

Doug is a radiologist. He works only three weeks and takes one week of vacation each month. (T-153) He employs another physician at a cost of \$1,500.00 per day so he can take this vacation time each month. (T-153) This is his lifestyle. By simple mathematical calculation, Doug paid another physician \$126,000.00 a year so that he could take twelve weeks of vacation each year. Thus he has been more than able to financially provide a luxurious lifestyle life for himself and Phyllis by working only forty weeks or nine months of the year, and yet he begrudges alimony to Phyllis, who created and maintained a serene world for him until he tired of her. The money Doug pays for vacation time far exceeds the alimony he pays Phyllis.

At the time of trial Doug was the sole financial beneficiary of a medical practice that had previously enriched three radiologists. Doug's former partner, Dr. Pontius, retired in December of 2001 (T - 152), and Dr. Carter, the surviving partner, left at the end of March 2003. (T -153) Doug and Dr. Carter were equal partners throughout 2002 and the first three months of 2003. Doug agreed that his income had increased as he was now drawing all of the income from what was formerly a three person practice. (T-155-156) Doug did not want to reveal his current income at trial. During trial on June 19, 2003, Doug was evasive and claimed he did not know the exact amount of his income. (T - 156 - 169) This information had to be developed through extensive cross-examination. According to the parties' 2001 tax return, Doug's W-2 reflected income of \$385,000.00. (E-3) After adding income from dividends, capital gains and rental income, the parties' total income in 2001 was \$445,841.00. (E-3) According to Doug's W-2 for the year 2002, his income from his medical practice alone was \$510,000.22, a substantial increase from the prior year. (E - 8) This figure did not include additional income received from dividends, capital gains, or rental income as is reflected in the parties' 2001 tax return. (E-3)Simply put, his income from his medical practice increased \$125,000.00 between 2001 and 2002.

Doug set his own base salary, which at trial was \$13,000.00 every two weeks for a total annual base salary of \$338,000.00. (T - 156-157) He also paid himself a substantial year end "bonus", which in 2002 was approximately \$172,000.00. (T - 160) This figure was determined by deducting his base salary of \$338,000.00 from the \$510,000.00 shown on his 2002 W-2 (E-8), an amount which his attorney conceded. (T - 160) In addition, some of Doug's personal expenses, such as automobiles, auto insurance, fuel, and other related expenses, are provided for him by the medical practice.

As of March 11, 2003, Doug was receiving a monthly income of \$29,890.00, a figure which included the base salary which he set for himself of \$28,080.00, plus \$160.00 for dividends and interest and \$1,650.00 for rental income. (E-9) It did not include his year end bonus, which is always substantial. Doug claimed \$5,015.00 in monthly living expenses, which included expenses for his house in Biloxi, \$842.00 for his "camp" in Louisiana, \$501.00 for his office (which should have been paid by his medical practice), \$261.00 for the Bayou Sauvolle home in Ocean Springs, and children's allowance of \$700.00 for the adult children. (E-9) During cross-examination it was determined that Doug's monthly expenses would, like Phyllis's, be subject to some variation after the trial and should decrease since, in addition to the office note, he would no longer pay expenses for the Bayou Sauvolle family home, which the parties were selling.

It is clear that given Doug's work habits, income and monthly expenses, the accumulation of significant amounts of investment capital with each pay period in the form of net disposable income constituted an important part of the lifestyle enjoyed by the parties during the marriage.

After withholdings and disability and liability insurance, Doug wanted to show he had \$15,200.00 per month in disposable income based on the salary he, himself sets. (E - 9) This figure is based solely on Doug's \$13,000.00 bi-weekly salary, but does not include his substantial year end bonus. (E - 9) In reality Doug's income in 2002 was \$510,000.02, thus his monthly disposable income, including his bonus, was \$42,500.02. (E - 8) According to Doug, the year end bonus was all of money left over in his medical practice after every business and personal expense had been paid. Clearly Doug's monthly income substantially exceeds the \$25,000.00 he claimed at trial. Doug's Financial Declaration did not accurately portray his true

annual income, but instead utilized the bi-weekly paycheck amount which he paid himself to portray a lesser monthly income than that which he makes.

The factor weighs heavily in favor of Phyllis.

#### b. Health and earning capacities of the parties:

Phyllis stated her health is good, although she suffers from migraines and had been seeing a psychologist since the separation in 2001 to help her cope with depression and thoughts of suicide brought on by Doug's rejection of her. (T - 47-49) At trial she was still undergoing treatment by a psychologist. (T - 48)

Doug testified that his health is good. (T - 122)

With the exception of the first six years of the marriage, Phyllis was a full time wife, mother and homemaker during the marriage. When asked whether she had ever considered what would happen to her earning capacity if she devoted 100% of her time and energy to her family and eventually a divorce came, she replied, "I didn't stop and consider it. When we married, I said until death do us part, and I meant it." (T-20)

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